
Principles of the Unalaska Planning Commission 
1. The Position: In any community, the position of Planning Commissioner is a highly respected and

honored one.

2. The Job: The job of Planning Commissioner is to serve the public, as representatives of the City
Council and to the best of their ability, in ensuring sound planning and growth management in
Unalaska.  All decisions of the Planning Commission should be based on sound planning
principles and practices, and not on the personal opinion of individual Planning Commissioners.
Once the Planning Commission makes a recommendation to the City Council, the job of the
Planning Commissioners and Planning Commission is over, in terms of that particular action.

3. Integrity: Planning Commissioners are appointed by City Council.  The actions, behavior, and
comportment of each Planning Commissioner reflect not only on that Planning Commissioner’s
integrity – but also on the integrity of the City Council and of the entire City government.

4. Collaboration: An individual Planning Commissioner is not a “lone wolf,” but is part of a collective
body.  As such, each Planning Commissioner is expected to act in a collaborative manner with
his and her fellow Planning Commissioners.

5. Respect Each Other: While it is understandable to sometimes disagree with your fellow Planning
Commissioners on issues brought before the body, and appropriate to publically vocalize that
disagreement during Planning Commission meetings, a Planning Commissioner should always
respect the opinion of their fellow Commissioners and treat each other with respect.

6. Majority Rules: It is important to remember that, at the end of the day, the majority rules.  So,
after each action is brought before the body, discussed, and voted upon, Planning
Commissioners must accept and respect the rule of the majority – even if the ruling was counter
to an individual Commissioner’s position.

7. Respect Staff: A Planning Commissioner should respect the opinion of City Planning Staff,
whether the Planning Commissioner agrees with staff or not. Planning Staff Members are
professionals who are employed to serve not only the Planning Commission and general public,
but the City Council.

8. The Las Vegas Rule: What comes before the Planning Commission must stay before the
Planning Commission.  This means there can be no outside negotiating with petitioners or with
the public regarding applications brought before the Commission.  And, all discussions – pro or
con – concerning a petition before the Planning Commission, must take place solely within
Planning Commission meetings.

9. Respect Applicants and Public: Each Planning Commissioner must always show professionalism
and respect for applicants and the general public – regardless of the position held by that
Planning Commissioner or by the Planning Commission.

10. Upholding the Principles: Any member of the Planning Commission who finds that he or she
cannot uphold and abide by the above principles should resign from the Commission.



CONDUCTING A PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 

 
The following is the sequence of events that is followed by the City of Unalaska Planning 
Commission and Platting Board in conducting a Public Hearing before the body. 
 

1. The Public Hearing is opened by the Chair of the Planning Commission/Platting 
Board who reads from the agenda. 

 
2. Any Ex-Parte questions or Commission member involvement are raised. If a 

Commission member(s) is excused, this is the proper time. 
 

3. Presentation by the staff. This is a short summary of the application, explanation 
of any maps, plats, exhibits, and code standards that might apply to the 
application. New written information not in the board packet is provided at this 
time. 

 
4. Presentation by the applicant. The applicant bears the responsibility for making 

the case or argument before the Commission. This is the time for Board members 
to ask questions of the applicant. Attempts to “negotiate” with the applicant 
should be conducted at this step (Step 4), while the public hearing is still open. 

 
5. Public Testimony. This includes those who are opposed to the application, and 

also the public in general. 
 

6. Rebuttal by the applicant. Final questions of all parties by the Commission. 
 

7. The Chair closes the Public Hearing and Commission deliberations begin. Once 
the hearing is closed, DO NOT REOPEN unless absolutely necessary. Questions 
of staff, the applicant, and the public are acceptable but uninitiated testimony is 
not. Attempts to “negotiate” with the applicant should be conducted at Step 4, not 
after the public hearing is closed. 

 
8. Commission discusses or debates the application. A motion must be made, with a 

second, and then final discussion. If a motion falls, an amendment(s) could be 
made to further or facilitate Commission final action. After “final action” is taken, 
reconsideration is possible per 8.04.060(G). 

 
 
 

 
DON’T BEND THE RULES FOR ONE, UNLESS YOU CHANGE THE RULES 

FOR ALL. 



CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION & PLATTING BOARD 
AGENDA/PUBLIC NOTICE 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
March 20, 2014 

7:00 P.M. 
 
The purpose of the meeting will be to consider matters brought to the attention of the Planning Commission & 
Platting Board and will include the following. The typical process for discussing an item is as follows:  

1. Staff presentation,  
2. Applicant presentation,  
3. Public comments,  
4. Motion/discussion/vote.  

 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
2. REVISIONS TO THE AGENDA  
 
3. APPEARANCE REQUESTS  
 
4. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
5. MINUTES  

• Regular Meeting February 20, 2014  
 
Public Hearing Action Items:  
6. Consideration of amending Unalaska Municipal Code Chapter 8.06 by adding and updating definitions, Chapter 

8.08 by clarifying subdivision requirements for lease lots, Chapter 8.12 by deleting building separation 
language, adding a conditional use for construction camps, and changing submittal deadline requirements. 

 
7. Consideration of a zoning map amendment to rezone Lot 8, Block 8, Haystack Hill Subdivision, located at 134 

Raven Way, from Single-Family Residential to Moderate-Density Residential (Owner/Applicant: Travis 
Swangel; Property ID: 04-09-233) 

 
8. Consideration of a variance request to allow for a 2.5-foot front setback to accommodate a fish oil processing 

plant at 146 Gilman Road (Owner: OC; Applicant: Bering Fisheries; Property ID: 04-05-390) 
 
9. Consideration of an amended site plan to a conditional use permit issued in August 2013 allowing for a new 

temporary-style bunkhouse at 1829 Ballyhoo Road, the base of the spit. (Owner: OC; Applicant: Icicle 
Seafoods; Property ID: 02-05-150) 

 
Regular Meeting:   
8. Receipt Platting Authority Resolution 2014-07 of the approval of the preliminary plat for Hazen Subdivision, a 

resubdivison of Lot 1, US Survey 5185, P-81-14, and Lot 1, ARC Subdivision, P-2000-04, Aleutian Islands 
Recording District, located at 140 Steward Road. 

 
Worksession:   
  
9. OTHER BUSINESS  
 
10. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 



Chair Help Sheet 

Approval of Minutes Steps: 

1. Open the Commission discussion by calling for a motion to approve.
2. Call for a second to the motion.
3. Commission discussion.
4. Close the Commission discussion.
5. Vote.

Public Hearing Steps: 

1. Open the Public Hearing.
2. Chair calls for potential Ex Parte Communications and potential Conflicts of Interest from

Commissioners.
3. Staff Presentation.
4. Ask if Commissioners have any questions of staff.
5. Applicant Presentation.
6. Ask if Commissioners have any questions for the applicant.
7. Public Testimony.  (Ask person to state name for the record.)
8. Ask if Commissioners have any questions of the public.
9. Close the Public Hearing.
10. Open the Commission discussion by calling for a motion to approve Resolution 2014-xx.
11. Call for a second to the motion.
12. Commission discussion.
13. Close the Commission discussion.
14. Vote.



Last revised: 3/13/2014 3:43:15 PM 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 

UNALASKA, ALASKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 

Thursday, February 20, 2014 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

7:00 P.M. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Chair Chris Bobbitt called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. 
 

Staff Present:     
Anthony Grande, Planning Administrator 
 
Roll Call:     
Commissioners present: 
Chris Bobbitt 
Doanh Tran 
Steven Gregory 
Jessica Earnshaw 
Commissioner absent: 
Vicki Williams 

 
2. REVISIONS TO THE AGENDA:  None 

 
3. APPEARANCE REQUESTS:  None 

 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:   
 
Introduction of the New Planning Commissioner: Chair Chris Bobbitt welcomed the new 
Planning Commissioner Jessica Earnshaw to the Planning Commission Board. 
 
Selection of Chair and Vice-Chair for 2014: Chair Bobbit informed the Commission that it 
is time to select a new Planning Commission Chair and Vice-Chair for 2014.  Chair Bobbitt 
opened the nomination for Chair. Steven Gregory nominated Chair Bobbitt again for the 
Chair; there was a second. Chair Bobbitt asked if there were any other nominations. Doanh 
Tran nominated Mr. Gregory for Chair; there was a second.  With 2 voting in favor of Chair 
Bobbitt and 1 voting in favor of Steven Gregory, Chair Bobbitt stayed on as Chair of the 
Planning Commission. 
 
Chair Bobbitt opened the nomination for the position of Vice-Chair. Ms. Earnshaw 
nominated Mr. Gregory for Vice-Chair.  There was a second.  The Chair asked if there were 
any other nominations. There being none, Chair Bobbitt called for a vote.  With a vote of 3-0 
in support, Mr. Gregory retained the position as Vice-Chair of the Planning Commission.  
 

5. MINUTES:  Ms. Tran moved to approve the minutes from the January 23, 2014 meeting. 
Ms. Earnshaw seconded the motion. Chair Bobbitt called for a discussion or comments on 
the minutes. There being no comments, Chair Bobbitt called for a vote and the motion to 
approve the minutes was unanimous (4-0). The minutes for the January 23, 2014 were 
adopted. 

 



Last revised: 3/13/2014 3:43:15 PM 

PUBLIC HEARING ACTION ITEMS:  

6. Consideration of a variance request to allow for a 4-foot side setback to accommodate a

proposed loading dock at 60 Delta Way.

Staff explained that the variance application is for a reuse of an historic building. To make it 
useful and as part of the renovation, the owners plan to add a new loading dock facing the side 
yard of the lot. The requested variance is the minimum necessary in order to accommodate three 
loading docks and in order to make use of the building viable. This being an industrial area, 
adding a loading dock to the building will not adversely affect the character of the neighborhood. 
Staff in concert with the Development Review Team is recommending approval of the variance 
request as it is in accordance with the standards outlined in the Unalaska’s Code of Ordinances.  

Chair Bobbitt asked the Commissioners if they have any questions for Staff. In response to 
questioning, staff explained that they had no additional information about the current use of the 
building but informed the Commission that the land and as well as the adjacent lots are owned by 
FDOC, a subsidiary of OC.  

Chair Bobbitt asked if there was anyone from the public who would like to testify. Tyler 
Zimmerman spoke briefly representing the applicant, saying that they intended to renovate the 
building and needed the variance to make the project viable.  

Chair Bobbitt asked anyone else from the public who would like to testify.  There being none, 
Chair Bobbitt called for a motion to approve Resolution 2014-06. Ms. Tran moved to approve 
Resolution 2014-06.  There was a second.  There being no further discussion, Chair Bobbitt 
called for a vote and the motion to approve was unanimous (4-0). The motion carried and 
Resolution 2014-06 was adopted. 

7. Consideration of amending Unalaska Municipal Code Chapter 8.06 by adding and

updating definitions, Chapter 8.08 by clarifying subdivision requirements for lease lots,

Chapter 8.12 by deleting building separation language, adding a conditional use for

construction camps, and changing submittal deadline requirements.

Staff informed the Commissioners that the comments from the last work session on the proposed 
Title 8 changes have been incorporated specially the definition of “temporary structures” that are 
designed to be easily moved or dismantled.   

The changes regarding the construction camps are to clarify where the camps should be located 
in the City namely, Marine-Related/Industrial District and Marine-Dependent/Industrial District 
as a conditional use. The phrase “project or projects” was added after the packets went out, 
making the definition more flexible and allow for multiple projects. A detailed plan for 
deconstruction and removal was added to the proposed ordinance change.  Chair Bobbitt pointed 
out a grammatical error on Section 8.12.080(D) (4) Construction camps, provided the follow...” 
should be “provided the following…”  

Staff touched on the straightforward changes to make sure that the Planned Unit Development 
section of the code is clear and similar to the Variance and Conditional Use section. PUDs are 
for developments that are 2 acres in size with multiple buildings. It could involve a few different 
variances, but would be approved as one for the entire development. 



Last revised: 3/13/2014 3:43:15 PM 

Staff explained that the concept of lease lots pertains to long-term property leases as being 
similar in many ways to property ownership as far as development is concerned. It is important 
to the community that when these lots are developed and structures built, that they follow the 
same standards as any other property in the City.  

Very much related, staff explained that there have been recent changes made to the Draft 
Ordinance after they got their packets and proceeded to enumerate the changes; addition of 
“long-term lease of 30-years or more”, into the definition of “SUBDIVISION”. It now reads:  

(157)”SUBDIVISION” means the division of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, 
sites, or other divisions, or the combining of two or more lots, tracts, or parcels into one lot, 
tract or parcel for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, long-term lease of 30-

years or more, or development, including any resubdivision and when appropriate to the 
context, the process of subdividing or the land actually subdivided. 

Staff said it was necessary to add it to the definition to clarify that the ordinance is for long-term 
lease of properties of 30-years or more with the assumption that it is for a planned development. 
It is also to safeguard property owners from unnecessary process of subdivision just to lease off a 
small portion of their land for a short period that may not involve development and have any 
impact to the community. The same language was added to Section 8.08.020(E) “Bar on 
subdivision by deed or lease”, to read:  

(E) Bar on subdivision by deed or lease. All subdivision of land within the jurisdiction of the 
city shall be by plat in compliance with this chapter. No deed, conveyance, or long-term 
lease document shall be used as a means to create a subdivision of land, except where such 
subdivision is exempt from the provisions of this chapter.  Any sale, transfer, or long-term 
lease of property must be of lots created by the subdivision process outlined in this chapter, 
except where exempt. 

Other minor changes involve striking out the building separation requirements in various zoning 
districts since it had more to do with Building Codes and the process of acquiring a building 
permit than Title 8.  

The last change in the proposed draft involve Section 8.12.215(A)(2) Submittal/timing, which 
has been moved up by seven (7) days to give enough time for the City Staff to gather feedback 
from the Development Review Team and still have time to give feedback to the applicant in time 
to prepare the packet for the Planning Commission meeting.  

Chair Bobbitt asked the Commissioners if they have any questions for Staff. Mr. Gregory asked 
if there were any public feedback regarding striking out the building separation from the code. 
Staff replied that there had been no public feedback; however, there was positive feedback from 
the Fire Department.  Ms. Tran suggested that it would be best if the Commission vote on these 
issues separately and not as one Resolution. She also inquired how Staff was able to gather 
stakeholders input regarding the changes. Staff replied that feedback was gathered from people 
who contacted the office after seeing the agenda postings and mail-outs.  

There being no additional questions for Staff, Chair Bobbitt asked if anyone from the public 
would like to testify regarding the resolution.  Mr. Miller from Ounalashka Corporation asked if 



Last revised: 3/13/2014 3:43:15 PM 

construction camps are allowed in a General Commercial area. Staff explained that they would 
only be allowed in the two zoning districts of Marine Dependent/Industrial and Marine 
Related/Industrial. Mr. Miller said that the proposed ordinance puts a limitation on projects if 
construction camps are only allowed in the two zones.  

Mr. Miller also commented on the proposed changes to the definitions. He said the process and 
the time it takes to have a lot subdivided have an impact or delay the negotiation of a lease. He 
asked if a property owner is required to plat a piece of property prior to leasing it out. Staff 
answered that the proposed change will require the property owner to submit a recorded plat 
prior to leasing the lot.  

Mr. Miller said that the 10,000 square foot lot size might prove to be an issue in some long-term 
leases because there are lots that exist that are less than 10,000 square feet. Ms. Rankin 
confirmed that many of OC’s lots are currently less than 10,000 square feet, noting that this helps 
make them financially sustainable for small businesses. She also stated that an amendment 
should be added stating that only the boundary portion of a lease needs to be released to the city. 

Chair Bobbitt asked the Commissioners if they had any questions for the public. Ms. Earnshaw 
had a question for Staff regarding the 60-day period for the platting process. Staff answered that 
the 60-day period was to allow for the back-and-forth between the City Staff and the applicant, 
especially when there are corrections to the plat.  

Ms. Tran requested that comments from Mr. Miller and Ms. Rankin be gathered and recorded by 
the Planning Staff for discussion in another work session.  

Chair Bobbitt asked the Commissioners if they had any other questions. Hearing none, Chair 
Bobbitt closed the Public Hearing and called for a motion. Mr. Gregory move to continue the 
discussion on Resolution 2014-05 to the next meeting. There was a second. Chair Bobbitt asked if 
there were any further discussion on the motion to continue this item to the next meeting. Hearing 
none, Chair Bobbitt called for a vote to continue the discussion on Resolution 2014-05. The vote 
was unanimous (4-0). The motion was adopted and the discussion on Resolution 2014- 05 will be 
continued in the next regular meeting. 

REGULAR MEETING: 

8. Receipt of Platting Resolution 2014-01 of the approval of the preliminary plat for

DeMeo Subdivision, a Resubdivision of Lot 2A Huling Subdivision, P 91-13, AIRD,

located at 140 Steward Road.

Staff informed the Board that the Platting Authority represented by the Planning Director 
approved an abbreviated plat for DeMeo Subdivision.  

WORK SESSION: 

9. Discussion of the Draft FY 2015-2018 Capital and Major Maintenance Plan.

Staff explained that the CMMP is a description or summary of the Capital projects lined up for 
fiscal year 2015-2019. The work session will be to gather feedback and comments from the 



Last revised: 3/13/2014 3:43:15 PM 
 

Commissioners before presenting it to the City Council for approval.  There was no further 
discussion except for Chair Bobbitt’s comment of the improved format of the report.  
 

10. OTHER BUSINESS:  None 

 
11. ADJOURNMENT: Chair Bobbitt adjourned the meeting at 8:07 
 
   
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _______ DAY OF __________ 2014 BY THE CITY OF 
UNALASKA, ALASKA PLANNING COMMISSION. 
 
 
_________________________________ _________________________ 
Chris Bobbitt Date 
Chair 
 
_________________________________ _________________________ 
Erin Reinders, AICP Date 
Recording Secretary 
 
Prepared by Veronica De Castro and Erin Reinders, Planning Department 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title 8 Revisions 

(Continued) 

 



1 

MEMORANDUM TO PLANNING COMMISSION 

TO: PLANNING COMMISSIONERS 

FROM: ERIN REINDERS, DIRECTOR OF PLANNING 

 ANTHONY GRANDE, PLANNING ADMINISTRATOR 

DATE: MARCH 20, 2014 

RE: RESOLUTION 2014-05 

 
 

SUMMARY:  Previous research, conducted by planning staff, and Planning Commission feedback have provided 
guidance for developing recommended revisions to Title 8. Staff has drafted the proposed revisions to address the 
concerns and needs of the community as a whole and to meet the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan.  
The changes are focused on five distinct topics including construction camps, planned unit developments, lease 
lots, building separation, and the application deadline.  Staff recommends approval of this Planning Commission 
Resolution 2014-05 in support of the Title 8 changes listed in draft City Council Ordinance 2014-04.  
 
BACKGROUND:  Code changes involve a public process with opportunities for feedback from the public, city 
officials and professional staff. During the second half of 2013, planning staff began collecting information about 
necessary changes to Title 8 and conducting research to determine remedies. After changes were drafted by 
planning staff, potential changes were introduced to the Planning Commission at their January 23, 2014 meeting. 
Another meeting was conducted with a public hearing on February 20, 2014. Staff has edited the revisions based 
on feedback from this work session and public hearing. At the request of the Planning Commission, a public 
mailing was sent to the entire city inviting them to the March 20th meeting, during which the vote is scheduled on 
this item. Upon approval of Resolution 2014-05, staff will present Ordinance 2014-04 to the City Council for 
approval, which will require two readings and a public hearing. 
 
DISCUSSION:  Attached to this memo is the Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05, which indicates 
Planning Commission’s support of Title 8 changes to City Council.  Also included is the draft City Council 
Ordinance 2014-04, referenced in Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05, which identifies the specific code 
changes. Currently, the proposed revisions are a result of staff research and discussions, feedback from the City 
Attorney, ongoing discussion and reflection with the Planning Commission, as well as feedback from the work 
session with the Planning Commission on January 23, 2014 focusing on the revisions themselves. Further input 
was considered from the public and from the Commission at the public hearing on February 20, 2014. Additional 
changes to these revisions may take place as a result of further feedback and direction from the public, Planning 
Commission and City Council. The changes are focused on five distinct topics: construction camps, planned 

unit developments, lease lots, building separation, application deadline. 
 
Staff proposes to clarify the definition of construction camps, which also involves adding the definition of 
“temporary.”  The definition of construction camps would be expanded to include temporary housing for any 
workers, not only specifically construction workers. The definition of “temporary” would be added to make it 
clear that any structure designed to be moved or deconstructed will be considered temporary. In response to 
feedback from the Commission and the public at the February 20th hearing, construction camps have been added 
to the list of permitted uses in the Marine-Related/Industrial and Marine-Dependent/Industrial Districts, as well as 
the list of conditional uses in the General Commercial District. This will clarify that construction camps are a use 
that is intended for industrial areas, and some commercial districts as the Commission sees fit, rather than other 
zoning districts in the city. Four safeguards have been added to the conditional use. First, the use must be tied to a 
project or series of projects. Second, a deconstruction plan for the camp must be provided. Third, a removal bond 



2 

must be provided. Fourth, a uniform appearance must be maintained for each building in the camp. For the 
permitted use in industrial districts, a condition was added stating that any housing in industrial areas must be 
uniform in appearance.  
 
Staff proposes to add a new section to Title 8 clarifying the intent and procedure for planned unit developments 

(PUD). This is an exciting revision to code, as it encourages creative solutions and master planning for 
development in this unique environment, such as allowing for a mixture of land uses, increased densities, and 
building clustering.  A refined definition for planned unit development is proposed that would clarify two key 
concepts: the PUD is to be used for properties of at least two acres and approval of the PUD will approve any 
nonconformities with Title 8 that are involved in the project. The new section (§8.12.215) would provide a 
detailed procedure for applications and approvals of PUDs. It is substantially similar to the sections explaining 
conditional use and variance requests but with a unique set of tests for Planning Commission approval.   It is these 
tests which were not clear in the past, and may be why this planning tool has been underutilized in our 
community.  A PUD would need to further the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan, would need to be 
compatible with the existing and planned land uses in the surrounding neighborhood and with the intent of its 
zoning district,  will not have a permanent negative impact substantially greater than anticipated from permitted 
development within the zoning district.  
 
Staff proposes to clarify subdivision requirements for lease lots, and in response to comments at the February 20th 
meeting, these sections have been revised. This includes amending the definitions of “subdivision” and “lease lot” 
as well as adding a section clearly explaining that a subdivision of land must follow the platting process. The 
purpose of subdivision review is to promote orderly growth in the community. New subdivisions, relevant to the 
future pattern of the community, can be created without property sales occurring. For example, developments may 
occur on lease lots. These revisions would clarify that developments occurring on lease lots are as relevant to the 
public interest as any other developments, and thus must occur on legally platted lots. There are three proposed 
changes to code: 
 
1. The definition of a “lease lot” is broadened to include not only lots created by lease lines, but also lots created 
by any other means in a lease document. This allows for leases of legally recorded lots to fit this definition. 
 
2. The definition of a “subdivision” is edited so that subdivisions are “for the purpose, whether immediate or 
future, of sale or development, including development associated with a property lease,” clarifying that 
developments on lease lots are not exempt from subdivision regulation. The definition already refers to 
development, not only sale, as a purpose of subdivisions, but staff feels it is important to make it clear that the 
types of non-sale developments covered under this definition would include those which occur on lease lots. 
 
3. A section is added: Requirement to plat, which is a standard statement in subdivision regulation codes, 
clarifying that subdivisions are to occur by the platting procedure outlined in this chapter of code, rather than by 
deed or lease. Subdivisions for sale or development would need to be platted first. 
 
The purpose of these three changes is to emphasize that the purpose of subdivision regulation is to manage 
development, regardless of the means of conveyance of property rights leading up to it. When development 
applications come to the department, staff will check to see that the lot is legally platted first (which is already 
done for sale parcels), even if the lot for development is a lease lot. It is common city planning practice in the 
United States to enforce subdivision regulations on lease lots, but we are taking a modest approach here, only 
regulating those lease lots that result in development.  
 
Staff proposes to remove the references to building separation from Title 8. Currently, each zoning district list of 
requirements has a section about multiple buildings, which is worded in a way that causes confusion and is 
completely unnecessary. Building separation is most appropriately handled by building permit reviews conducted 
by the fire chief and the state fire marshal, in addition to expert advice from the city engineer. The zoning code 



3 

should avoid placing unnecessary restrictions on building separation when the issue is already addressed by more 
qualified experts for every building constructed in the city. 
 
Staff proposes to change the application deadline in order to provide a more appropriate length of time for 
internal review of all zoning applications. The deadline would be moved to 22 days prior to a meeting of the 
Planning Commission, rather than 15 days prior. This extra week will provide City staff a sufficient amount of 
time to review applications before information is sent to the commissioners. Planning staff is looking for a more 
appropriate amount of time for communicating comments back to applicants in order to have issues addressed 
before the date of the meeting. This will benefit the applicant, City staff, and the Planning Commission by 
allowing a more complete and thorough application to be presented to the Commission for review. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:  Although changes to code are ultimately the decision of the City Council, the Planning 
Commissions provides important recommendations to the City Council to consider regarding Title 8.  The 
Planning Commission may:  
1. Approve Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 recommending code changes identified in the Draft City 

Council Ordinance 2014-04 in its entirety, or 
2. Approve the Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 contingent on particular revisions to the code changes 

identified in the Draft City Council Ordinance 2014-04, which would be shared with City Council, or 
3. Disapprove Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 and recommending that City Council not approve the 

code changes identified in the Draft City Council Ordinance 2014-04. 
 
LEGAL: The City Attorney has been consulted throughout this review process and the proposed revisions are in 
keeping with his recommendations.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
supporting the Title 8 revisions identified in City Council Ordinance 2014-04.   
 
Attachments: 
1) Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
2) City Council Ordinance 2014-04 



Item 6: Title 8 Revisions (Res. 2014-05)  3.20.2014 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 

Planning Commission/Platting Board 

Resolution 2014-05 

 
A RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF DRAFT CITY COUNCIL ORDINANCE 

2014-04 AMENDING UNALASKA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8.06 ADDING AND 

UPDATING DEFINITIONS, CHAPTER 8.08 CLARIFYING SUBDIVISION REQUIREMENTS, 

CHAPTER 8.12 DELETING BUILDING SEPARATION LANGUAGE, ADDING A ZONING 

DESIGNATION FOR CONSTRUCTION CAMPS, AND CHANGING SUBMITTAL DEADLINE 

REQUIREMENTS 

 
WHEREAS, the city desires to encourage sound, orderly growth within the city limits and to avoid land use 
incompatibilities resulting from uncoordinated development; and 
 
WHEREAS, one of the duties of the Planning Commission is to prepare and to recommend to the City 
Council ordinances, regulations, or other proposals promoting orderly development indicated as desirable by 
the Comprehensive Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the potential updates and revisions to Title 8 were introduced and discussed at the January 
23, 2014 Planning Commission meeting and further discussed with a public hearing at the February 20, 
2014 Planning Commission meeting; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed code amendments included in Draft City Council Ordinance 2014-04 have 
been drafted to address concerns of professional staff members, and have been revised in response to 
input from Planning Commissioners and members of the public, as well as input from the City Attorney; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed code amendments included in the Draft City Council Ordinance 2014-04 have 
been drafted as a result of the recommendations, goals, and objectives identified in the Unalaska 
Comprehensive Plan 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a formal public hearing on March 20, 2014 in order to 
further consider the testimony of the public; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds the code amendments to be reasonable, in the public 
interest, and in conformance with the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the Planning Commission recommends the City of Unalaska 
City Council approves the proposed code amendments included in Draft City Council Ordinance 2014-04, 
as shown in Attachment A. 
 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _______ DAY OF ____________________, 2014, BY THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA. 
 
 
___________________________    __________________________ 
Chris Bobbitt       Erin Reinders, AICP 
Chair       Recording Secretary 
 



Attachment A: Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
 

1 City Council Ordinance 2014-04: Amending Title 8 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
DRAFT ORDINANCE NO. 2014-04 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AMENDING UNALASKA 
MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8.06 ADDING AND UPDATING DEFINITIONS, CHAPTER 
8.08 CLARIFYING SUBDIVISION REQUIREMENTS, AND CHAPTER 8.12 DELETING 
BUILDING SEPARATION LANGUAGE, ADDING A ZONING DESIGNATION FOR 
CONSTRUCTION CAMPS, AND CHANGING SUBMITTAL DEADLINE REQUIREMENTS 
 
 BE IT ENACTED by the City Council of the City of Unalaska: 
 
Section 1: Form.  This is a Code ordinance. 
 
Section 2: Amendment of CHAPTER 8.06: DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 8.06.020 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 

§ 8.06.020  DEFINITIONS 

 (A) For the purpose of Title 8 UCO, certain terms, words, or phrases used herein 
shall be interpreted as follows: 

  […] 
  (48) “CONSTRUCTION CAMP” means those on-site buildings and/or 

trailers that are temporarily used to house and feed construction workers and/or store project 
construction materials and/or provide office space for contractors and sub-contractors. means 
those temporary structures used to house and feed a variety of workers or for storage of materials 
or office space in connection with (a) the construction, alteration or demolition of a structure or 
vessel, (b) the exploration or support of any mine or oilfield operation, or (c) any other work that 
requires a temporary work force to reside in the city. 

  (82) “LEASE LOT” or “LEASE PARCEL” means a parcel or tract of land 
described and designated by lease lines, or otherwise described in a lease document, and which 
at the time of applying for a building permit or another use permit is designated as the tract or 
parcel of land to be used, developed, or built upon as a unit of land.  For purposes of zoning 
information, setbacks, yards, and other dimensional information, lease lots shall be interpreted as 
if they were actual lots or parcels. 

  (110) “PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD)” means a form of 
development, on a property of at least 2 acres, characterized by a unified site design for a number 
of houses, clustering buildings, and providing common open space, density increases, and a mix 
of building types and land uses, the plan for which may not conform to regulations established in 
Title 8 UCO. The PUD may require variances to Chapter 8.08, “Platting and Subdivision,” by 
the Platting Board and/or conditional use permit and/or variance approval by the Planning 
Commission for purposes of Chapter 8.12, “Zoning.”  Any aspects of the development, which do 
not conform to Title 8 UCO and would typically require a platting variance, conditional use 



Attachment A: Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
 

2 City Council Ordinance 2014-04: Amending Title 8 

permit, or zoning variance, shall be considered an allowable nonconformity upon approval of the 
development as specified in § 8.12.215. 

  (157) “SUBDIVISION” means the division of a tract or parcel of land into 
two or more lots, sites, or other divisions, or the combining of two or more lots, tracts, or parcels 
into one lot, tract, or parcel for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale or development, 
including development associated with a property lease, including any resubdivision and when 
appropriate to the context, the process of subdividing or the land actually subdivided. 

  (161) “TEMPORARY” means those structures, which, based on their 
design elements, are not reasonably expected to be productive for more than 30 years, or are 
designed to be moved or dismantled. The Director of Planning shall have the discretion in 
determining whether a structure fits this definition and may consider the anticipated use of the 
structure and its surroundings. 

  [subsections 161 through 172 shall be renumbered 162 through 173] 
 
Section 3: Amendment of CHAPTER 8.08: PLATTING AND SUBDIVISION 
 
Section 8.08.020 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 

§ 8.08.020 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
[…] 
(E) Requirement to plat. All subdivision of land within the jurisdiction of the city shall be 
by plat in compliance with this chapter. 
[subsections E through J shall be renamed F through K] 

 

Section 4: Amendment of CHAPTER 8.12: ZONING 

 
Section 8.12.040 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 

§ 8.12.040 SINGLE-FAMILY/DUPLEX RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

 […] 
 (L) Special provisions for multiple buildings on a lot. 
  (1) More than one building may be placed on a lot. Each building shall be 
considered as one building for the purpose of front, side, and rear yard requirements. 
  (2) Access between buildings. Buildings or structures arranged so that vehicular 
access driveways separate them shall not have less than 30 feet between the buildings or 
structures so arranged. 
 [subsections M through O shall be renamed L through N] 
 
Section 8.12.050 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.050 MODERATE-DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

 […] 
 (K) Special provisions for multiple buildings on a lot. 



Attachment A: Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
 

3 City Council Ordinance 2014-04: Amending Title 8 

  (1) More than one building may be placed on a lot. Each building shall be 
considered as one building for the purpose of front, side, and rear yard requirements. 
  (2) Access between buildings. Buildings or structures arranged so that vehicular 
access driveways separate them shall not have less than 30 feet between the buildings or 
structures so arranged. 
 [subsections L through N shall be renamed K through M] 
 
Section 8.12.060 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.060 HIGH-DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

 […] 
 (K) Special provisions for multiple buildings on a lot. 
  (1) More than one building may be placed on a lot. Each building shall be 
considered as one building for the purpose of front, side, and rear yard requirements. 
  (2) Access between buildings. Buildings or structures arranged so that vehicular 
access driveways separate them shall not have less than 30 feet between the buildings or 
structures so arranged. 
 [subsections L through N shall be renamed K through M] 
 
Section 8.12.070 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.070 GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 

 […] 
 (D) Conditional uses and structures. In the General Commercial District, the following 
uses and their accessory uses may be permitted, subject to securing a Conditional Use approval 
in each case as provided for in this chapter (See § 8.12.200): 
  […] 
  (6) Bulk chemical and petroleum storage and sales; 
  (7) Construction camps, provided the following safeguards are addressed, in 
addition to other conditions that the Planning Commission finds necessary as they relate to the 
specific request: 
   (a) the use is tied to a specific project or projects and is discontinued 
following the completion of that project or projects; and  

(b) a detailed plan for deconstruction and removal is be provided; and 
   (c) the applicant provides proof of a bond in an amount, deemed by the 
Planning Commission to be sufficient to ensure removal of the structure upon project 
completion; and 
   (d) the appearance of each structure, comprising the construction camp, is 
substantially uniform. 
  [subsections 7 through 20 shall be renumbered 8 through 21] 
 
Section 8.12.080 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 



Attachment A: Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
 

4 City Council Ordinance 2014-04: Amending Title 8 

 § 8.12.080 MARINE-RELATED/INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

 […] 
 (B) Uses permitted. In the Marine-Dependent/Industrial District, no building or structure 
or land shall be used, and no building or structure shall be erected which is arranged, intended, or 
designated to be used for other than one or more of the following uses: 
  […] 
  (10) Construction camps; 
  [subsections 10 through 24 shall be renumbered 11 through 25] 
 […] 
 (J) Special provisions. The following special provisions apply to all land uses within the 
Marine-Related/Industrial District: 
  […] 
  (6) All housing is subject to the condition that the appearance of each structure is 
substantially uniform. 
 […] 
 
Section 8.12.090 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.090 MARINE-DEPENDENT/INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

 […] 
 (B) Uses permitted. In the Marine-Dependent/Industrial District, no building or structure 
or land shall be used, and no building or structure shall be erected which is arranged, intended, or 
designated to be used for other than one or more of the following uses: 
  […] 
  (8) Construction camps; 
  [subsections 8 through 11 shall be renumbered 9 through 12] 
 […] 
 (J) Special provisions. The following special provisions apply to all land uses within the 
Marine-Related/Industrial District: 
  […] 
  (6) All housing is subject to the condition that the appearance of each structure is 
substantially uniform. 
 […] 
 
Section 8.12.170 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.170 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 […] 
 (J) Planned unit developments. A developer may request exceptions from portions of this 
chapter in the case of a planned unit development.  Application for any such exception shall be 
made in writing by the developer before or at the time the proposed development is submitted to 
the Department of Planning.  The request for planned unit development shall be supplemented 
with maps, plans, or other data which may aid in the analysis of the proposed project.  When an 
application for a planned unit development is complete, the request will be treated as application 



Attachment A: Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
 

5 City Council Ordinance 2014-04: Amending Title 8 

for conditional use permit(s) and/or variance request(s) and will be heard in public hearing(s) 
before the Commission. 
 [subsections K through Q shall be renamed J through P] 
 
Section 8.12.190 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.190 AMENDMENTS 

 […] 
 (B)(2) Submittal/timing 
  (a) The application must be received at least 15 22 days prior to the next regular 
meeting of the Planning Commission. 
 […] 
 
Section 8.12.200 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.200 CONDITIONAL USE APPLICATIONS 

 […] 
 (A)(2) Submittal/timing 
  (a) The application must be received at least 15 22 days prior to the next regular 
meeting of the Planning Commission. 
 […] 
 
Section 8.12.210 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby amended with the following 
revisions: [additions are underlined; deletions are overstruck] 
 
 § 8.12.210 VARIANCES 

 […] 
 (B)(2) Submittal/timing 
  (a) The application must be received at least 15 22 days prior to the next regular 
meeting of the Planning Commission. 
 […] 
 
Section 8.12.215 of the Unalaska Municipal Code is hereby added as follows: 
 
 § 8.12.215 PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS 

(A) Procedure. A developer may apply for approval of a planned unit development from 
the Planning Commission, granting exemption from portions of this chapter for large 
scale developments. The procedure for taking action on a planned unit development 
application shall be as follows: 

  (1) Written application. A written application for a planned unit development 
approval shall be filed with the Department of Planning on forms prescribed by the Department. 
Upon filing an application for a planned unit development approval with the Department of 
Planning by a landowner or his/her authorized agent, the applicant shall be informed of the time 
and place of the next regular meeting at which the application will be considered. 



Attachment A: Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
 

6 City Council Ordinance 2014-04: Amending Title 8 

  (2) Submittal/timing. 
   (a) The application must be received at least 22 days prior to the next 
regular meeting of the Planning Commission.  
   (b)  The application will not be scheduled for a public hearing unless the 
Department of Planning, following  an examination of the City of Unalaska Real Property Tax 
Roll, determines the person signing as landowner(s) on the application form are in fact the latest 
owner(s) of record. 
 (B) Public Hearing. The Planning Commission shall hold at least one public hearing on 
the application. Notice of the Public Hearing shall be given not less than 10 days prior to the 
public hearing in the following manner: 
  (1) The Department of Planning will mail notice of public hearing to all 
landowners of record within 300 feet of the proposed planned unit development as shown on the 
City of Unalaska Real Property Tax Roll; and 
  (2) The Department of Planning will post at least two copies of this notice, printed 
or written, in a conspicuous place not less than 10 days prior to the date of the hearing. 
 (C) Findings. At public hearing, the Planning Commission shall determine if any 
application for a planned unit development: 
  (1) Furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Development Plan; 
  (2) Will be compatible with the existing and planned land uses in the surrounding 
neighborhood and with the intent of its zoning district; and 
  (3) Will not have a permanent negative impact substantially greater than 
anticipated from permitted development within the zoning district. 
 (D) Action of the Planning Commission. 
  (1) The Planning Commission shall make its decision concerning a planned unit 
development application within 30 days after the first public hearing on the application, unless 
the hearing is continued. 
  (2) In rendering its decision, the Planning Commission may apply specific site or 
development conditions as additional safeguards or controls to ensure compatibility with 
surrounding land use and protection of the public. Such approval will be specifically tied to the 
site plan submitted with the application, unless otherwise modified and noted by the Planning 
Commission. 
  (3) The Planning Commission shall cause written notification of its action to be 
mailed to the applicant within 10 days after the decision has been rendered. Its decision shall be 
final unless appealed to the City Council. 
 (E) Appeals. A person aggrieved by the decision of the Planning Commission may make 
written request for a hearing before the City Council to appeal such decision.  For purposes of 
this subsection, an aggrieved person means an applicant or landowner within the area involved or 
within 300 feet of the exterior boundaries of the area involved.  Such request shall contain 
reference to the specific decision appealed and shall be delivered to the City Clerk within 10 
working days from such ruling.  Upon receipt of any such request, the City Council will set a 
date for a public hearing to consider the Planning Commission's decision and objections thereto.  
Notice of the Public Hearing shall be given not less than 10 days prior to the public hearing in 
the following manner 
  (1) The Department of Planning will mail the notice of public hearing to all 
landowners of record within 300 feet of the proposed planned unit development as shown on the 
City of Unalaska Real Property Tax Roll; and 



Attachment A: Planning Commission Resolution 2014-05 
 

7 City Council Ordinance 2014-04: Amending Title 8 

  (2) The City Clerk will post at least two copies of this notice, printed or written, in 
a conspicuous place not less than 10 days prior to the date of the hearing. 
 (F) Action of the City Council. At the public hearing, the City Council may uphold the 
action of the Planning Commission, reverse the action of the Planning Commission, or modify 
the action of the Planning Commission. 
 (G) Decision of the City Council. The City Council shall provide findings of fact and 
conclusions of law in accordance with its decision on appeal.  These findings of fact and 
conclusions of law shall be issued within 15 working days after the final hearing on appeal.  The 
decision of the City Council shall become final and effective immediately upon the issuance of 
the findings of fact and conclusions of law.  No permits shall be issued concerning the property 
in question until the decision becomes final.  A decision of the City Council may be appealed to 
the Superior Court within 30 days after the decision becomes final. 
 (H) Reapplication. No request for a planned unit development shall be considered by the 
Planning Commission within the 12-month period immediately following a previous denial of 
such request, except that the Director of Planning may consent to a new hearing, if in the opinion 
of the Director of Planning new evidence or a change of circumstances warrant it. 
 (I) Time Limit. Each planned unit development authorized under the provisions of this 
Chapter which is not actually established or for which the actual construction commenced on the 
buildings or structures involved within one year from the date of the decision of the Planning 
Commission, will be null and void.  In the event construction work is involved, it must actually 
commence within the stated period and must be diligently pursued to completion. 
 

 
Section 5: Effective Date. This ordinance is effective June 1, 2014. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY A DULY CONSTITUTED QUORUM OF THE UNALASKA 
CITY COUNCIL THIS _________ DAY OF _______________, 20__. 
 
 
 
     ____________________________________ 
     HON. SHIRLEY MARQUARDT 
     MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
__________________, CITY CLERK 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Travis Swangel 

Zone Amendment Application 



Item 7: Swangel Rezone (Res. 2014-08)                                3.20.2014 
 

1 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 

Planning Commission/Platting Board 

Staff Report 

 
A RESOLUTION TO THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF 

THE ZONING MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE THE PROPERTY AT LOT 8, BLOCK 8, 

HAYSTACK HILL SUBDIVISION, P-91-14, ALEUTIAN ISLANDS RECORDING DISTRICT, 

LOCATED AT 134 RAVEN WAY 

  
Project Information 

Land Owner Travis Swangel 
Applicant Travis Swangel 
Location  134 Raven Way 
Property Identification 04-09-233 
Application Type Zoning map amendment 
Project Description Rezone to a higher residential density to allow for two additional dwelling 

units on the lot. 
Zoning  Existing: Single-Family Residential -- Proposed: Moderate Density 

Residential 
Exhibits Draft Resolution 2014-08, Rezone Application and Supplemental 

Materials, Location Map 
Staff Recommendation Approval of Resolution 2014-08 
 
PLAN GUIDANCE 

1. Housing was identified as a community need in the 2009 Community Visions for the Future: 
Unalaska 2010-2020 visioning document as part of the Comprehensive Planning process. 

2. The Unalaska Comprehensive Plan 2020 – Housing Plan identifies several goals including:  
 Increase affordable home-ownership opportunities for current and future City residents.  
 Increase the supply of affordable rental housing.  
 Amend the zoning code to provide more flexibility in redeveloping in-fill lots and new 

subdivisions for new housing development. 
 

CODE REQUIREMENTS 
1. According to UCO §8.12.040(A), the Single-Family/Duplex Residential District is intended to 

stabilize and protect the one- and two-family dwelling residential character of the district and to 
promote and encourage a safe and suitable environment for family life. 

2. According to UCO §8.12.050(A), the Moderate-Density Residential District is intended to serve as 
an intermediate density multi-family residential district where up to four residential dwelling units 
per lot may be permitted. 

3. UCO Section 8.12.190 outlines the zoning amendments process including the following: 
 Boundaries of zoning districts established by this chapter and as shown on the Zoning Map, text 

in this chapter may be amended, reclassified, or altered whenever required by public necessity 
and convenience and general welfare. 

 The Planning Commission shall hold at least one public hearing on the application. At the public 
hearing, the Planning Commission shall determine if any application for a zone change is 
reasonable, in the public interest, and in conformance with the goals and objectives of the 
Comprehensive Plan, and make recommendations to the City Council. 



Item 7: Swangel Rezone (Res. 2014-08)                                3.20.2014 
 

2 
 

 Upon receipt of the recommendation, the City Council shall set the date for a public hearing.  At 
that public hearing, the City Council may accept the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission, reject the recommendation of the Planning Commission, or approve a modification 
to the recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

 
BACKGROUND  

1. Travis Swangel, owner of the property in question, has submitted an application to rezone the 
property from Single-Family/Duplex to Moderate Density, which would increase the allowed 
number of units from two to four. 

2. This application is intended to support future plans to add several new dwelling units and renovate 
one of the buildings on the lot. 

3. The property in question is in an area that does not have a single-family character and is 
predominantly institutional uses, including City Hall and the clinic, as well as the chiropractic 
center. It serves as a transitional area between these higher intensity uses and the low intensity 
housing higher up the hill. Therefore, staff finds that this is a reasonable location for the Moderate 
Density district. 

FINDINGS 
The purpose of the zoning map amendment is to allow for zoning of certain properties to be amended in 
order to accommodate the needs of the community. The Planning Commission is to approve the request 
when it finds that the request is 1) reasonable; 2) in the public interest; and 3) in conformance with the 
goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan. Staff finds that the rezoning meets this standard, as 
follows: 
1. The proposed rezoning is reasonable because it promotes a land use that matches the character of its 

surroundings and would not cause any particular burdens on the neighborhood. 
2. The proposed rezoning is in the public interest because it allows for additional housing to be created 

at an infill site at a location that can support a higher intensity of use. It is in the public interest 
maximize the use of land for housing wherever it is not expected to cause negative impact.  

3. The proposed rezoning does not conflict with the Comprehensive Plan; rather it supports it by 
providing more housing for the community, especially at in-fill sites within existing neighborhoods. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
In accordance with the standards outlined in Unalaska City Code of Ordinances Chapter 8.12 (Zoning), 
the City of Unalaska Department of Planning, in concert with the City’s Developmental Review team, 
recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval to the City Council of this zoning map 
amendment by approving Resolution 2014-08.  

 



Item 7: Swangel Rezone (Res. 2014-08)  3.20.2014 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 

Planning Commission/Platting Board 

Resolution 2014-08 

 

A RESOLUTION TO THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF THE 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE THE PROPERTY AT LOT 8, BLOCK 8, HAYSTACK 

HILL SUBDIVISION, P-91-14, ALEUTIAN ISLANDS RECORDING DISTRICT, LOCATED AT 134 

RAVEN WAY 

 
WHEREAS, UCO §8.12.190 sets forth the procedures for the taking action on a zoning map amendment 
application; and 
 
WHEREAS, Travis Swangel is the owner of Lot 8, Block 8, Haystack Hill Subdivision (04-09-233); and 
 

WHEREAS, Travis Swangel has submitted a zoning map amendment application to rezone this property from 
Single-Family Residential to Moderate-Density Residential; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Departments of Planning, Public Works, Public Utilities and Public Safety 
have reviewed the request; and 
 
WHEREAS, the creation of additional housing is desirable from the standpoint of public interest, as identified in 
the Unalaska Comprehensive Plan 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, the property in question is in an area that does not have a single-family residential character and is 
predominantly institutional uses, including City Hall and the clinic; and 
 
WHEREAS, notices of the public hearing were posted and mailed; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 20, 2014 to consider 
this request and to hear testimony of the public, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the application and finds that the zoning map amendment 
request is reasonable, in the public interest, and in conformance with the goals and objectives of the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission recommends to the City Council approval of 
the rezone of Lot 8, Block 8, Haystack Hill Subdivision at 134 Raven Way from Single-Family Residential to 
Moderate-Density Residential. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the secretary of the Planning Commission is to certify a copy of this 
Resolution and to file it with the Unalaska City Clerk no later than fifteen (15) working days from the date shown 
below. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS _______ DAY OF ____________________, 2014, BY THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA. 
 
___________________________  __________________________ 
Chris Bobbitt, Chair       Erin Reinders, AICP, Secretary  









383 ft

veronica
Callout
116 & 134 Raven Way



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bering Fisheries 

Variance Application 



Item 8: Bering Fisheries Variance (Res. 2014-09) 3.20.2013 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 
Planning Commission/Platting Board 

Staff Report 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A VARIANCE FOR A FRONT YARD REDUCTION FROM 
10-FEET TO 2.5-FEET TO ALLOW FOR A FISH OIL PLANT ON LOT 1, MARINEWAYS-

UNISEA SUBDIVISION, P-2002-07, ALEUTIAN ISLANDS RECORDING DISTRICT, 
LOCATED AT 146 GILMAN ROAD 

 
Project Information 

Land Owner Ounalashka Corporation 
Applicant Bering Fisheries 
Location  146 Gilman Road 
Property Identification 04-05-390 
Application Type Variance for Development 
Project Description Construction of a new cod liver oil processing plant.  
Zoning Marine-Dependent/Industrial 
Exhibits Draft Resolution 2014-09, Variance Application and Supplemental Materials, 

Location Map 
Staff Recommendation Approval of Resolution 2014-09 with associated conditions 
 
PLAN GUIDANCE 
1. The Unalaska Comprehensive Plan 2020 identifies a value in the economic development section of its 

community action agenda that includes the following:  
• Ensure the provision of adequate land area for the development of businesses and industries to strengthen 

and further diversify the local economy, supported by the primary action of making more land available 
for businesses and industries. 
 

CODE REQUIREMENTS 
1. According to UCO §8.12.090, the minimum front yard is 10 feet.  
2. UCO §8.12.210 outlines the variance request process including the following: 

• The Planning Commission, after public hearings, may vary or modify requirements of this chapter where 
strict application would cause an undue or unnecessary hardship.  

• Variances will be dimensional in nature and may be limited to requirements governing yards, lot 
dimensions and coverage, heights, and parking areas.  

• In granting a variance, the Planning Commission may attach conditions which it finds necessary to protect 
the best interests of the surrounding property or vicinity, and to otherwise achieve the purpose of this 
chapter. 

• The Planning Commission approves an application for a variance by finding: 
(1) Special conditions that require the variance are not caused by the person seeking the variance and 

that exceptional or extraordinary circumstances apply to the property which do not apply generally 
to other properties in the same zoning district, and result from lot size, shape, topography, or other 
circumstances over which the applicant has no control. An argument of “financial hardship” when 
defined as causing a developer to spend more than he is willing to in order to conform, is not an 
over-riding factor in the granting of a variance; 

(2)  That the variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant substantially 
the same as is possessed by other landowners in the same zoning district; 

(3)  That the granting of the variance will not materially affect the health or safety of persons residing or 
working in the neighborhood and will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious 
to property or improvements in the neighborhood; and 

1 



Item 8: Bering Fisheries Variance (Res. 2014-09) 3.20.2013 
 

(4)  That the variance will not be materially detrimental to the intent of this chapter, or to properties in 
the same zoning district in which the property is located, or otherwise conflict with the objectives of 
the Comprehensive Plan and the variance requested is the minimum variance which would alleviate 
the hardship. 

 
BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
1. The applicant proposes to construct a new cod liver oil processing plant on the lot, adjacent to the existing 

Bering Fisheries building. 
2. The effective functioning of the fish oil processing plant requires that it is adjacent to the existing building as 

shown in the site plan. Because of the orientation of the existing building, being a waterfront structure, there 
is limited room available on the side with the proposed new structure. 

3. This variance would allow the structure to be within 2.5 feet of the lot line, which is a legal right-of-way. 
However this right-of-way is not used as a street. It is intended to be a drainage ditch. 

4. City staff has indicated that the structure within 2.5 feet of this section of right-of-way will not interfere or 
inhibit its intended use as a drainage ditch. 
 

FINDINGS 
The purpose of a variance is to grant relief to an applicant when a requirement causes an undue or unnecessary 
hardship.  In order to be granted, a variance request must meet the four tests of code identified in UCO Section 
8.12.210(E) listed above. Staff finds that all four tests are met as follows. 
1. Staff finds that the granting of this variance is required by special conditions of this lot, as it is narrow and the 

lot lines are not parallel to the natural orientation of the buildings with the waterfront. This limits space in the 
crucial portion of the lot, adjacent to the waterfront and the existing building. 

2. Staff finds that the granting of this variance preserves the right of the landowner to build a reasonable level of 
development with the size of the lot. 

3. Staff finds that the granting of this variance does not negatively impact the surrounding area or the 
community as a whole. The section of right-of-way the building faces will not be affected by this structure. 

4. Staff finds that the granting of this variance does not conflict with the goals of the Comprehensive Plan, but it 
rather supports the goal of increasing land availability for businesses. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
In accordance with the standards outlined in Unalaska City Code of Ordinances Chapter 8.12 (Zoning), the City 
of Unalaska Department of Planning, in concert with the City’s Developmental Review team, recommends 
approval of this variance request with the associated condition of approval identified in Resolution 2014-09.  

2 



Item 8: Bering Fisheries Variance (Res. 2014-09)  3.20.2014 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 
Planning Commission/Platting Board  

Resolution 2014-09 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A VARIANCE FOR A FRONT YARD REDUCTION FROM 
10-FEET TO 2.5-FEET TO ALLOW FOR A FISH OIL PLANT ON LOT 1, MARINEWAYS-

UNISEA SUBDIVISION, P-2002-07, ALEUTIAN ISLANDS RECORDING DISTRICT, 
LOCATED AT 146 GILMAN ROAD 

 
WHEREAS, UCO §8.12.210 sets forth the procedures and requirement for variances for development 
projects; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant, Bering Fisheries, has been authorized to submit variance application by the 
owner, Ounalashka Corporation, of the property at Lot 1, Marineways-UniSea Subdivision (04-05-390); 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the subject property is zoned Marine-Dependent/Industrial; and 
 
WHEREAS, the current front yard requirement of 10 feet prevents the effective use of the property 
while maintaining existing structures and access to the water; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant has submitted a variance request to allow for a side yard reduction to 2.5-feet 
to allow for the construction of a cod liver oil plant; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Departments of Planning, Public Works, Public Utilities and Public 
Safety have reviewed the request; and 
 
WHEREAS, the creation of additional usable industrial land is desirable from the standpoint of public 
interest, as identified in the Unalaska Comprehensive Plan 2020; and  
 
WHEREAS, notices of the public hearing were posted and mailed; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission/Platting Board conducted a public hearing on March 20, 2014 in 
order to consider the testimony of the public; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds the Variance to be in accordance with the following tests 
of code: 

• Special conditions that require the variance are not caused by the person seeking the variance 
and that exceptional or extraordinary circumstances apply to the property which do not apply 
generally to other properties in the same zoning district, and result from lot size, shape, 
topography, or other circumstances over which the applicant has no control. An argument of 
“financial hardship” when defined as causing a developer to spend more than he is willing to in 
order to conform, is not an over-riding factor in the granting of a variance; 

• That the variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant 
substantially the same as is possessed by other landowners in the same zoning district; 

• That the granting of the variance will not materially affect the health or safety of persons residing 
or working in the neighborhood and will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or 
injurious to property or improvements in the neighborhood; and 

• That the variance will not be materially detrimental to the intent of this chapter, or to properties 
in the same zoning district in which the property is located, or otherwise conflict with the 

 1 



Item 8: Bering Fisheries Variance (Res. 2014-09)  3.20.2014 
 

objectives of the Comprehensive Plan and the variance requested is the minimum variance which 
would alleviate the hardship. 

 
WHEREAS, UCO §8.12.210(A) allows the Planning Commission to attach conditions, which it finds 
necessary to protect the best interests of the surrounding property or vicinity, and to otherwise achieve 
the purpose of this chapter. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that in accordance with UCO §8.12.210, the Planning 
Commission grants a variance for a front yard reduction from 10 feet to 2.5 feet to allow for 
construction of a cod liver oil plant on Lot 1, Marineways-UniSea Subdivision, at 146 Gilman Road. 
 
This resolution approves the variance from the zoning code only as it applies to the specific site plan 
submitted with the application, shown in Attachment A, and becomes effective if there are no appeals 
within ten (10) working days from the decision date, as outlined in UCO §8.12.210(F). 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _______ DAY OF ____________________, 2014, BY THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA. 
 
 
________________________    __________________________ 
Chris Bobbitt       Erin Reinders, AICP 
Chair        Recording Secretary 
 

 2 











89 ft

veronica
Callout
146 Gilman Road





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Icicle Seafoods, Inc. 

Conditional Use  

Site & Design Plan Amendment 



Item 9: Icicle Seafoods Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2014-10)                3.20.2014 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 
Planning Commission/Platting Board 

Staff Report 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A REVISED SITE PLAN FOR RESOLUTION 2013-13 FOR A 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR A TEMPORARY BUNKHOUSE ON TRACT A, BASE OF 
SPIT SUBDIVISION, 82-04, ALEUTIAN ISLANDS RECORDING DISTRICT, LOCATED AT 

1829 BALLYHOO ROAD 
 

Project Information 
Land Owner Ounalashka Corporation 
Applicant Icicle Seafoods 
Location  1829 Ballyhoo Road (base of the spit) 
Property Identification 02-05-150 
Application Type Conditional Use Permit  
Project Description Construction of a new temporary-style bunkhouse 
Zoning  Marine-Dependent/Industrial 
Exhibits Draft Resolution 2014-10, Conditional Use Permit Application and 

Supplemental Materials, Location Map 
Staff Recommendation Approval of Resolution 2014-10 with associated conditions 
 
PLAN GUIDANCE 
1. Employee housing was identified as a community need in the 2009 Community Visions for the 

Future: Unalaska 2010-2020 visioning document as part of the Comprehensive Planning process. 
2. The Comprehensive Plan identifies several goals, as well as corresponding values and actions to help 

realize the vision of our community.  These include:  
a. Goal: Ensure a thriving and sustainable local economy 
b. Goal: Continue improving the overall quality-of-life enjoyed by all Unalaska residents 

and visitors. 
i. Value: Continue the provision of adequate shelter and amenities to support the 

needs of all local residents, visitors, and businesses. 
1. Action: Encourage Construction of Quality, Reasonably-Priced Housing 

c. Goal: Continue to improve and maintain Unalaska’s infrastructure and physical appeal. 
i. Value: Improve the community’s overall appearance, cleanliness and visual 

appeal, including both private and public properties. 
 

CODE REQUIREMENTS 
1. According to UCO §8.12.090, the Marine-Dependent/Industrial District is intended to provide for 

those land uses and structures whose primary purposes require direct access to a water body and/or 
can be carried out on, in, or adjacent to a water body. 

2. Temporary housing is not listed as a permitted use in this district, but according to UCO 
§8.12.090(D), any other uses may be approved by the Planning Commission through the conditional 
use approval process. 

3. UCO §8.12.200(C) states that at a public hearing, the Planning Commission is to determine that the 
conditional use meets the following three tests and may apply site or development conditions, 
pursuant to UCO §8.12.200(D)(2), in order to ensure that the three tests are met. 

1. Furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Development Plan; and 

1 
 



Item 9: Icicle Seafoods Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2014-10)                3.20.2014 
 

2. Will be compatible with existing and planned land uses in the surrounding neighborhood and 
with the intent of its use district; and 

3. Will not have a permanent negative impact substantially greater than anticipated from 
permitted development within the district. 

 
BACKGROUND  
1. On August 8, 2013 Icicle Seafoods was approved for a conditional use permit for a temporary-style, 

containerize bunkhouse on their lot at the base of the spit. The purpose was to allow seasonal 
workers to have improved living conditions, compared to the living quarters on the vessels. 

2. Icicle Seafoods has submitted an amendment to this conditional use permit with a different design 
and site plan for the bunkhouse. All conditional use approvals are tied to the site plan submitted by 
the applicant, meaning an altered plan requires another approval. 

3. Resolution 2013-13, approving the original plan, has been included here, along with those plans. 
Note that the Commission’s analysis is restricted to the difference between the original application 
and the new one. In other words, since the original plan was found to meet the three tests of code, 
our review is to determine whether the updates to the plan cause it to no longer meet those tests. 

FINDINGS 
The purpose of the conditional use permit is to allow for a specific use to be examined on a case-by-case 
basis with consideration to the uniqueness of the situation and public testimony. The Planning 
Commission is to approve the request when it finds that the three-part test is satisfied. Staff finds that all 
three tests are met as follows. 
1. The proposed development associated with this conditional use application furthers the objectives of 

the Comprehensive Plan by promoting housing within the city and improving the quality of life for 
those working in the city. 

2. The proposed development associated with this conditional use application is compatible with the 
surrounding land uses and neighborhood character, as it is fully surrounded by industrial uses and 
structures. 

3. In order to ensure that the proposed development associated with this conditional use application 
will not have any substantial negative impact on the community, the applicant is reminded that a 
building permit shall be obtained from City Department of Public Works and all other related 
requests identified in that process shall be addressed. Further, the bunkhouse buildings will be 
painted.  These have been added as conditions of approval in Resolution 2014-10. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
In accordance with the standards outlined in Unalaska City Code of Ordinances Chapter 8.12 (Zoning), 
the City of Unalaska Department of Planning, in concert with the City’s Developmental Review team, 
recommends that the Planning Commission approve the conditional use request with the associated 
condition of approval identified in Resolution 2014-10.  

 

2 
 



Item 9: Icicle Seafoods Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2014-10)  3.20.2014 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 
Planning Commission/Platting Board 

Resolution 2014-10 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A REVISED SITE PLAN FOR RESOLUTION 2013-13 FOR A 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR A TEMPORARY BUNKHOUSE ON TRACT A, BASE OF SPIT 

SUBDIVISION, 82-04, ALEUTIAN ISLANDS RECORDING DISTRICT, LOCATED AT 1829 
BALLYHOO ROAD 

 
WHEREAS, UCO §8.12.200 sets forth the procedures for the taking action on a conditional use application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant, Icicle Seafoods, has been authorized to submit application for conditional use by the 
owner, Ounalashka Corporation, of Tract A, Base of Spit Subdivision (02-05-150); and 
 
WHEREAS, the subject property is zoned Marine Dependent/Industrial; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant has been approved for a conditional use permit to construct a temporary bunkhouse 
through Planning Commission Resolution 2013-13; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant proposes to amend the design and site plan for the proposed bunkhouse; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Departments of Planning, Public Works, Public Utilities and Public Safety 
have reviewed the request; and 
 
WHEREAS, the creation of additional housing is desirable from the standpoint of public interest, as identified in 
the Unalaska Comprehensive Plan 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, notices of the public hearing were posted and mailed; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 20, 2014 to consider 
this request and to hear testimony of the public, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the application and finds that this amendment to the conditional 
use request maintains satisfaction with the three part test set forth in UCO §8.12.200(C): 

1. Furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan; 
2. Will be compatible with existing and planned land uses in the surrounding neighborhood and with the 

intent of its use district; and 
3. Will not have a permanent negative impact substantially greater than anticipated from permitted 

development within the district. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission approves the amended design and site plan 
for Resolution 2013-13 for a conditional use for a temporary bunkhouse on Tract A, Base of Spit Subdivision at 
1829 Ballyhoo Road maintaining the following conditions of approval: 

1. All conditions of the City of Unalaska Building Permit, including Engineered Construction and Utility 
Plans and State Fire Marshall approval shall be addressed prior to the units being located on the property.  
Details of what is submitted to and approved by the State Fire Marshall shall be provided to the 
Department of Public Works as part of the Building Permit application. 

2. External portions of the containerized units shall be painted.  Details of the painting plan shall be included 
in the Building Permit application packet. 

This resolution approves the conditional use only as it applies to the specific site plan submitted with the 
application, shown in Attachment A, and becomes effective if there are no appeals within ten (10) working days 
from the decision date, as outlined in UCO §8.12.200(E). 
 



Item 9: Icicle Seafoods Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2014-10)  3.20.2014 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS _______ DAY OF ____________________, 2014, BY THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA. 
 
___________________________  __________________________ 
Chris Bobbitt, Chair       Erin Reinders, AICP, Secretary  

































188 ft

veronica
Callout
1829 Ballyhoo Road



 

 

 

 

 

 

Original Icicle Seafoods CU Application 

Approved August 8, 2013 



 Item 6: Icicle Non-Permanent Containerized Bunkhouse - Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2013-13)  8.8.2013 
 

1 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION & PLATTING BOARD  

STAFF REPORT 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING FOR A NON-PERMANENT 
CONTAINERIZED BUNKHOUSE ON TRACT A, BASE OF SPIT SUBDIVISION, PLAT 82-4 LOCATED 

ON BALLYHOO ROAD. 
 

Project Information 
Land Owner Richard Miller, Ounalashka Corporation 
Applicant Chris Pugmire, Icicle Seafoods 
Location  Base of the Spit on Ballyhoo Road (02-05-150) 
Application Type Conditional Use Permit  
Project Description A request to allow for 7 containers to serve as housing and restroom facilities for Icicle 

Seafoods employees. 
Zoning  Marine Dependent / Industrial  
Exhibits Draft Resolution 2013-13, Conditional Use Permit Application, and Aerial Imagery from 

GeoBlade 
Staff Recommendation Approval of Resolution 2013-13, with conditions 
 
PLAN GUIDANCE 
1. Employee housing was identified as a community need in the 2009 Community Visions for the Future: 

Unalaska 2010-2020 visioning document as part of the Comprehensive Planning process. 
2. The Comprehensive Plan identifies several goals, as well as corresponding values and actions to help realize 

the vision of our community.  These include:  
 Goal: Ensure a thriving and sustainable local economy 
 Goal: Continue improving the overall quality-of-life enjoyed by all Unalaska residents and visitors. 

o Value: Continue the provision of adequate shelter and amenities to support the needs of all local 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 Action: Encourage Construction of Quality, Reasonably-Priced Housing 

 Goal: Continue to improve and maintain Unalaska’s infrastructure and physical appeal. 
o Value: Improve the community’s overall appearance, cleanliness and visual appeal, including 

both private and public properties. 
 

CODE REQUIREMENTS 
1. UCO 8.06.020 provides the following definitions which may be related to this request: 

 (31) “BUNKHOUSE” means a dwelling unit consisting of individual rooms for one or more individuals 
working for a single employer.  The rooms shall not be for rent or lease to persons other than employees 
of the employer; guests may utilize the facilities of the bunkhouse only on a limited basis. 

 (47) “CONTAINER VAN” also referred to as a connex, means a metal receptacle on or off a movable 
chassis used for the transshipment or storage of goods. 

 (48) “CONSTRUCTION CAMP” means those on-site buildings and/or trailers that are temporarily used 
to house and feed construction workers and/or store project construction materials and/or provide office 
space for contractors and sub-contractors. 

 (97) “MOBILE HOME” means a dwelling designed for habitation, constructed and fabricated at a factory 
and capable of being transported to a location of use on its own chassis and wheels.  Any such structure 
shall be deemed to be a mobile home whether or not the wheels have been removed, whether or not it is 
resting upon a temporary or permanent foundation, and whether or not it has been partially or completely 
rehabilitated or reconstructed upon a chassis. 

 (98) “MOBILE HOME PARK” means more than four mobile or manufactured homes located on one lot 
or parcel. 

2. According to UCO 8.12.040 (M)(1), UCO 8.12.050 (L)(1), and UCO 8.12.060(L)(1), it is a special provision 
in residential districts that container vans either on or off of a movable chassis must be sided at all times with 



 Item 6: Icicle Non-Permanent Containerized Bunkhouse - Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2013-13)  8.8.2013 
 

2 
 

standard exterior residential siding; and doors or entrances must be entirely sided with standard exterior 
residential siding or be painted to cover any commercial markings.  The movable chassis must be skirted at all 
times with standard exterior residential siding. 

3. According to UCO 8.12.090 (A), the Marine-Dependent/Industrial District is to provide for those land uses 
and structures whose primary purposes require direct access to a water body and/or can be carried out on, in, 
or adjacent to a water body only. 

4. According to UCO 8.12.090 (B), permitted uses in the Marine-Dependent/Industrial District included: 
 (2) Marine transport services, including ferry terminals, public boat landings/boat launches, container 

storage and staging yards, excursion services, and boat rentals;     
 (6) Facilities for processing, packaging, warehousing, distributing, and shipping products harvested from 

the ocean; 
 (7) Permanent accessory employee housing, bunkhouses, employee apartments, and associated employee 

feeding, laundry and recreational facilities; 
 (8) Support facilities for offshore industries. 

5. Other similar uses not specifically identified but which meet the “Purpose and Intent” provisions of this 
zoning district of the ordinance and would be no more objectionable than those uses identified may be 
permitted if the Director of Planning makes a “Planning Determination” in this matter subject to appeal to the 
Planning Commission identified in UCO 8.12.220(A)(2). 

6. Other uses may be permitted as conditional uses subject to the review and approval of the Planning 
Commission per the provisions of UCO 8.12.200. 

7. UCO 8.12.200(C) states that at a public hearing, the Planning Commission is to determine that the conditional 
use: 
 Furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Development Plan; 
 Will be compatible with existing and planned land uses in the surrounding neighborhood and with the 

intent of its use district; and 
 Will not have a permanent negative impact substantially greater than anticipated from permitted 

development within the district. 
8. UCO 8.12.200(D)(2) allows for the Planning Commission to apply specific conditions as additional 

safeguards or controls to ensure compatibility with surrounding land use and protection of the public. 
 
BACKGROUND  
1. Permanent structures for employee housing are permitted in the Marine Dependent / Industrial zoning district. 

Other similar uses may be considered by the Planning Commission and could be allowed through a 
Conditional Use Permit. Due to the temporary and portable nature of containers or connexes, staff has 
determined that a non-permanent containerized bunkhouse would constitute a Conditional Use.  

2. Icicle Seafoods has submitted an application and associated documentation for a conditional use permit to 
allow for six containerized bunkhouse units and one containerized bathroom unit. The application addresses 
how the containers will be positioned, how they could be served by utilities and how they could be accessed.  

3. The applicant indicates in their letter, that despite the temporary nature of the containers, the intention is to 
have the units remain at this location for the foreseeable future. 

4. A review by the State Fire Marshall will be required for compliance with fire and life safety codes.  
Additionally, a building permit from the City of Unalaska will be required prior to the placement of these 
containers.  The applicant has been advised of these requirements.  

5. The Planning Department has posted and mailed out notices of regarding this conditional use application in 
accordance with City Code.  At the time this report was written, no comments had been received. 

 
FINDINGS 
1. Ensuring economic growth, providing quality housing, and improving the community’s physical appeal were 

all mentioned in the Comprehensive Plan as goals. Allowing for non-permanent containerized bunkhouse 
helps an existing industry provide housing to its employees in a cost effective method.  Although these units 
may not add to the permanent housing stock of the community, as the structures themselves may be relocated, 
the application states that Icicle intends to use them for the foreseeable future. With the following safeguards 



 Item 6: Icicle Non-Permanent Containerized Bunkhouse - Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2013-13)  8.8.2013 
 

3 
 

in place, staff finds that the application furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Development 
Plan thereby meeting this test of code. 

 To better ensure that the units provide safe and quality housing resulting in no greater negative impact 
than would be anticipated from other permitted development in this zoning district, a building permit 
from the City of Unalaska and a State Fire Marshall review are required for this scale and type of 
development.  Staff has outlined this requirement as a condition of approval.   

 To help meet the goal of increasing community appeal and to increase compatibility with existing and 
planned uses in the surround area, staff has included a condition that the containers be painted.  This 
condition is based on a similar requirement for when containers are placed in residential areas and to 
compliment efforts that other employers have made in providing permanent site-built housing 
facilities which are sided and painted.  

2. The intent of this zoning district is to support uses for industries requiring access to water.  This area is 
primarily industrial, with surrounding uses including welding, warehouses, docks, storage and staging, 
employee housing, and fish processing. Permanent site- built employee housing located in the area has been 
sided and painted.  The proposed conditional use of a non-permanent containerized bunkhouse will provide 
housing facilities for Icicle employees.  Employee housing fits the surrounding area and existing uses 
surrounding the site. Because the request will be compatible with the existing and future uses in this location, 
staff finds that the application meets the test of code with the previously mentioned safeguard in place.  

 To help meet the goal of increasing community appeal and to increase compatibility with existing and 
planned uses in the surround area, staff has included a condition that the containers be painted.  This 
condition is based on a similar requirement for when containers are placed in residential areas and to 
compliment efforts that other employers have made in providing permanent site-built housing 
facilities which are sided and painted.  

3. This site is zoned Marine-Dependent Industrial which permits permanent employee housing, such as 
bunkhouses, as well as container storage by right.  Staff finds that containers retrofitted to provide employee 
housing would not have a permanent negative impact substantially greater than anticipated from permitted 
development within the Marine-Dependent Industrial zoning district, so long as the previously mentioned 
safeguard is in place. Therefore, staff finds that the application meets the test of code.   

 To better ensure that the units provide safe and quality housing resulting in no greater negative impact 
than would be anticipated from other permitted development in this zoning district, a building permit 
from the City of Unalaska and a State Fire Marshall review are required for this scale and type of 
development.  Staff has outlined this requirement as a condition of approval.   

 
RECOMMENDATION 
In accordance with the standards outlined in Unalaska City Code of Ordinances Chapter 8.12 (Zoning), the City 
of Unalaska Department of Planning, in concert with the City’s Developmental Review team, recommends that 
the Planning Commission approve Resolution 2013-13 and the associated conditions of approval.  



Item 6: Icicle Non-Permanent Containerized Bunkhouse - Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2013-13)            8.8.2013 
 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION & PLATTING BOARD  

RESOLUTION 2013-13 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING FOR A NON-
PERMANENT CONTAINERIZED BUNKHOUSE ON TRACT A, BASE OF SPIT SUBDIVISION, 

PLAT 82-4 LOCATED ON BALLYHOO ROAD. 
 
WHEREAS, Title 8 UCO Section 8.12.200 sets forth the procedures for the taking action on a 
conditional use application; and 
 
WHEREAS, Ounalashka Corporation is the owner of Tract A, Base of Spit Subdivision, Plat 82-4 (02-
05-150), located on Ballyhoo Road and currently has an agreement with Icicle Seafoods to use the 
property; and 
 

WHEREAS, the subject property is zoned Marine Dependent/Industrial; and 
 
WHEREAS, Icicle Seafoods proposes to locate a non-permanent containerized bunkhouse to meeting 
employee housing needs for the foreseeable future; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Departments of Planning, Public Works, Public Utilities and Public 
Safety have reviewed the request; and 
 
WHEREAS, notices of the public hearing were posted and mailed; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Planning Commission held a public hearing on August 8, 2013 to 
consider this request and to hear testimony of the public; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the application and finds that this conditional use 
request as set forth in UCO §8.12.200(C): 

1. Furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan; 
2. Will be compatible with existing and planned land uses in the surrounding neighborhood and 

with the intent of its use district; and 
3. Will not have a permanent negative impact substantially greater than anticipated from permitted 

development within the district; and 
 
WHEREAS, UCO 8.12.200(D)(2) allows for the Planning Commission to apply specific conditions as 
additional safeguards or controls to ensure compatibility with surrounding land use and protection of the 
public. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission approves the request from Icicle 
Seafoods for a Conditional Use Permit to site a Non-Permanent Containerized Bunkhouse on Tract A, 
Base of Spit Subdivision, Plat 82-4 with the following conditions: 

1. All conditions of the City of Unalaska Building Permit, including Engineered Construction and 
Utility Plans and State Fire Marshall approval shall be addressed prior to the units being located 
on the property.  Details of what is submitted to and approved by the State Fire Marshall shall be 
provided to the Department of Public Works as part of the Building Permit application. 

2. External portions of the containerized units shall be painted.  Details of the painting plan shall be 
included in the Building Permit application packet. 
 



Item 6: Icicle Non-Permanent Containerized Bunkhouse - Conditional Use Permit (Res. 2013-13)            8.8.2013 
 

 

This resolution becomes effective if there are no appeals within ten (10) working days from the decision 
date, as outlined in Section 8.12.200(E) UCO. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS _______ DAY OF ____________________, 2013, BY THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA. 
 
___________________________  __________________________ 
Chris Bobbitt, Chair       Erin Reinders, AICP, Secretary  


































	Principles of the Planning Commission
	March 20, 2014 Public Agenda
	February 20, 2014 Meeting Minutes
	Title 8 Revisions (Continued)
	Staff Report
	Resolution 2014-05
	Draft City Council Ordinance 2014-04

	Travis Swangel Zone Amendment Application
	Staff Report
	Resolution 2014-08
	Zone Amendment Application
	Zoning Map

	Bering Fisheries Variance Application 
	Staff Report
	Resolution 2014-09
	Variance Application
	Site Plan
	Location Map
	Plat# 2002-07

	Icicle Seafoods CU Site & Design Plan Amendment
	Staff Report
	Resolution 2014-10
	Conditional Use Application
	Site Plan & Design
	Location Map
	Original Icicle Seafoods CU Application 

	Platting Authority Resolution 2014-07 - Hazen Subdivision
	Preliminary Plat 




